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possible, and therefore I take all possible means of com­
municating to you what I know to be facts ..... We have 
no communications with Bengal, and the troops on this side 
Benares are at present too much separated to yield one 
another timely assistance. I hope to God a sufficient force 
is ordered for the reduction of Cheil Sing, for tlte people 
who are dazly sent to hUll, horse and foot, from Fy::;abad £s 
very great.' On the 13th he wrote: ( It is impos!:>ible in the 
general insurrection, which now rei!;-ns almo&t universally, 
for me to get the force together the Nawab demanded, 
or to force my way to you without a loss. The greatest 
anarchy prevails; the pr<:><;ent in~utrectlOn IS said and be­
lieved to be with an intention to expel the English.' 1 And 
':lubsequently: ' I havf' already and r-1peatedly informed you 
of the disposition~ of those in favour at Fyzabad, v. hich has 
in fact been one of the great sources of the in.:;un ectlOn, and 
the place of all others in the Vizler'& dominion., which has 
supplied Cheit Sing with the greatest number of troops. 
The old Begum does, in the most open and violent manner, 
support Cheit Sing's rebellion and the insurrection, and the 
Nawab's mother's acculsed eunuch!:> are not less industriom,. 
Capital examples made of Jower Ali Khan and Rahar Ali 
Khan would, I am per!:>uaded, have the very best effects.' 2 

These statements of Colonel Hannay were fully confirmed 
by the Resident, Mr. Middleton, an old and expeJienced 
servant of the Company. He said of the Begum that, 
'strengthened by her immense wealth, which is entl usted 
to her two chief eunuchs, she is become one of the most 
serious internal evils that bid fair to give great disturbance 
to this conntry.' He described her as a woman of un­
commonly violent temper: 'Death and destruc+ion is the 
least menace she denounces upon the most trifling opposi­
tion to her caprice. By her own conduct, and that oS all 
her agents and dependents during the Benares troubles, 
it may with truth and justice be affirmed, s,he forfeited every 
claim she had 1.0 the protection 'of the English Government, 

1 State Papers, yol. III, p. 1004. t Ibid,,'~' 1005. 



THE BEGUMS I57 
as she evidently, and it is confidently said, avowedly 
espoused the cause of Rajah Cheit Sing. and united in the 
idea and plan of a general extirpation of their race and 
power in Hindostan.' 1 

These were the grounds on which the Governor-General 
believed in the guilt of the Begums, and acted on that 
belief. He was justly of opinion that when the Begums 
committed themselves to an act of war against the Bengal 
Government, they fo"feitcd the .guarantee which that 
Government had given them. It is a maxim of international 
jurisprudence that a state of war voids all treaties between 
the bellig~ent partits. It was not the Governor-General 
who ~iolated the guarantee, it was the Begums who annulled 
ft by their own act .• When they, through their warlike 
eunuchs, ~ent troops to assist Cheit Sing, and fomented the 
Benares outbreak, they themselves abolished all claim on 
English protection. To War;en Hastings the resumption 
of the jagirs was not only a mea~ure of ~ound policy but 
also Just. He likewise considcr('d it both impolitic and 
unjust to leave the Begums in the possession of a large 
amount of treasure. 2 On this he WI ote to the Council: 
'It may be necessary in this place to inform you that 
in addition to the former re"olution of resuming the Begum's 
jagir, the Nawab had declared his resolution of reclaiming 
all the treasures of his family which were in their possession, 
and to which, by the Mahomedan law, h(; was entitled .• This 
resolution I have strenuously encouraged and supported, 
vot so much for the reasons assigned by the Nawab, as 
because I think it equally unjust and impolitic that they 
should be allowed to retain the means of which they have 
already m.de so pernicious a usc by exciting disturbances 
in the country and a revolt against the Nawab their 
Sl>v.eign. I am not too sanguine in my expectations of 
the re~lt of these proceedings, but have required and re­
ceived the Naw~'s promise that, whatever acquisition shall 
be obtained from the issut! of them, it shatJ. be primarily 

1 Statef'aper,', Vol. III, p. 51. • Ibid. J ntrod., p. lxxiv. 
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applied to the discharge of the balance actually due from 
him to the Company.' 1 In making this stipulation the 
Governor-General only discharged his duty to the Adminis­
tration of which he wa~ the head. 

There remained, a~ concerning the Begums, the duty of 
carrying out the resolution~ arrived at in Chunar. A military 
force, accompanied by the Vizier, was moved up to Fyzabad; 
the followe! s of the Begums were assembled there in re­
sistance, but theil leaders durst not rlefy the English power, 
and these retainel':> were ~peedily, without bloodshed, di':>­
armed and disbanded, and the palace wa'> clo<;ely invested 
by the 1I00ps. No more pl(lvisions ~'ere allowed to entel 
than were neces~ary for the food of the prince~!.e<; and their 
attendants. They were, In fact, i~Pl isoncd 10 their own 
palac..:; but no intru!>ion was made on the zenand, ,md no 
personal indignity \~as offered It i., probable th,[t the 
Begums !.uffered a little InCOnVenIence, and may 11avc feit 
some humiliation. But that wa::, all, and the ~Ituation cOldd 
have been termin,lted at any moment by yielding what 
they had no right to keep. FOI some week" the ladles 
obstinately refused to ,;un"cnder, but ultimately the treasure 
was given up to the Vi,tier, who di~charged thereout the 
debt due to the Company. 

Before this took place tl1<'" Governor-General had left for 
CJ.1cutta, and wa':> certainly not answerable for anything 
more them the eXi" es" 01 del 5 he ga \ e to the Re5i dent th,lt 
there should be no negotiation nor comproml::'c. But the 
Vizier, acting on hb own aut hOI ity, though no doubt witI­
the acquie!.cence, tacit 01 other, of the Resident, went 
further, and removed the two eunuchs to Lucknow, where 
they were treated ~ ith some severity; and it wa~ in conse­
quence of that treatm\!l1t that the tl easure was given up. 
The remalk of Mr. Forrest upon this episode in the 1>toJY is 
as follows: 'The cruelty practised by the Nawab ~nd his 
servants has been greatly exaggerated, but it was sufficient 
to have justified the mterference of the Resident. To have 

] State l'ape1S, Vol. III, p. 836. 
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countenanced it by transmitting the orders of the Vizier 
was a grave offence. But for what took place Hastings at 
Calcutta . cannot be held responsible.' 1 This may be safely 
taken as a true and just comment by an impartial inquirer 
into the facts. 

The tale of the Begums, simply told in the preceding 
pages, without either concealment on the one hand, or 
embellishment on the other, differs widely from the fiction 
of Macaulay. Let us ~ke the stat~ment in the Essay by 
steps. It begins by thus describing the treaty of Chunar. 
, At first sight it might appear impossible that the negotia­
tion should. come to a·n amicable close. Hastings wanted 
an e~traordinary supply of money. Asaph-ul-Dowla 
~anted to obtain a romission of what he already owed. 
Such a difference seemed to admit of no compromise. 
There was, however, one course satisfactory to both sides, 
one course in which it ,vas possible to relieve the finances 
both of Oude and Bengal; and that course was adopted. 
It was simply this, that the Governor-General and the 
Vizier should join to rob a third party; and the third party 
whom they determined to rob wa~ the parent of one of the 
robbers.' 

Now the first article of the treaty was occupied with an 
arrangement to relieve the finances of Oude by reducing the 
number of the Compan}'~ troops and of the English officers 
in the service of the Nawab ; and also with regulating. the 
amount of his private income, and securing the management 
oj the public revenue. The second article was directed to 
the abolition of the great fiefs of territory owned by various 
feudatories, which had been found to produce confusion and 
disorder in.the country. It is true that the Begums held 
some of these fiefs, and were, in common with many other 
!ilndltolders, made to suffer resumption under the treaty; 
but it i~ also true that Warren Hastings stipulated, in dis­
charge of the gUi-rantee given by tbe Company, that full 
compensation shoulcl be paid. That comrensation was 

1 .stale' Papers, Introd., p. JxxN_ 
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secured to the Begums by way of pensions, and those 
pensions are to this day, according to Sir Alfred Lyall, 
paid to their representatives. So far, at any rate, it is 
surely an abuse of language tu speak of the treaty as 
'robbery'. 

But then the Essay comes to deal with the question of 
the treasure. 'They' (the Begum~) 'had possessed great 
influence over Sujah Dowla, and had at his death been left 
a splendid dotation .• Thc trcasu\.c hoalded by the late 
Nawab, a trea~ure which was popUlarly estimated at ncar 
three millIons sterling, wa') in their hands .... A<;aph-ul­
Dowla had already extp' ted cOl1si~erable ,)U11)S from his 
mother. She had at length appealed to the English; a.nd the 
English had interfeled. A ~o1cmn ()!Jmpact had been mad~, 
by which ::.he con'>entc.d to give her son some pecuniary 
assistance, and he in his turn promi::.ed never to commIt any 
further invasion of her righb. This compact W.iS formally 
guaranteed by the Government of Bengal Rut times hJ.d 
changed, money was wanted; and the power which had 
given the guarantee was not ashamed to instigate the "poil('r 
to excesses such that even he shrank from them .... A pre­
text \vas the last thing that Ha~ting~ wa~ lIkely to want. 
The insurrection at Benares had produced dbturbances in 
Oude. These disturbance~ it was convenient to impute to 
the PIiJ.lcesscs. Evidence for the imputation there was 
scar<;.ely any, unless repOJ t<, wandeIing from one mouth to 
another, md gaining something by every tran~mis"lOn, may 
be called evidence ... It was agreed between him' (tq~ 
Governor· General) 'and the Vi,iel that the noble ladies 
should, b} a sweeping confi<;cation, be stnpped of their 
domains and trea'>ure::. for the benefit of the COflpany, and 
that the sums thus obtained should be accepted by the 
Government of Bengal in satisfaction of its cla.ims oa the 
Government of Oude.' 

The politest thing to say of the senteqces above quoted 
is that froIl' beginnmg to 'end they are unhistorical. 
Macaulay was at, great writer, and probabl} his most 
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cherished ambition was to be thought a great historian. 
Yet it would seem that in his de.<,ire to write brilliantly, to 
write dramatically, he continually missed the truth that the 
foundation of all history must lie in accuracy as to facts. 

Judged by that standard, it is difficult to find much 
history in the above quotation . It is not true that the 
treasure in the ¥aults of their zenana wa~ a ' dotation ' of the 
princesses. It was money belonging to the State, of which 
the first and proper use ",as to pay tlv: State debts. That 
it was in the actual hands of the Begums is correct, but 
it was so in defiance of law and custom, and therefore 
wrongfully .• It could ~e justly reclaimed by the legal 
owner . • Nor is it true that Asa"h-ul-Dowla had' extorted' sums 
from his mother. On the contrary, it was she who had 
extorted from him jagirs to the extent of four times the 
value of the money she had advanced to him. 

It is equally untrue that the Begum 'had at length 
appealed to the English '. it was Asaph-ul-Dowla who 
appealed to the Resident in his di'>tres.', j and the Resident 
strongly expostulated with the lady on her conduct to her 
son. In this respect the ')tatement in the Essay is a com­
plete inversion of the fact'). 

But again; to say, in reference to the di~turbances in 
Oude and Benares, that it was a 'pretext' on the part of 
Hastings, that it was convenient to impute those distu,b­
ances to the princesses, and that there was no evidence for 
the. imputation, is an unjustifiable slander, as well as a 
denial of plain facts. Are the dispatches of Colonel Hannay 
not evidence? Are the statements of the Resident to go 
for nothing? • Of course that was the policy of the authors 
of the Impeachment; everyone who did not support their 
accu<;a_ons was a liar and an accomplice; but was it the 
business oj a distinguished public mal!, fifty years after, to 
cast, or to insinuate,;lllVlorthy libels on honourable servants 
of the State, and on tht"ir iIlust'rious Head? 

Lastly, it ismtot true that there was any Ipeasure of COIl­

M 
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fiscation, sweeping or other, put in force against' the noble 
ladies'. For the resumption of their domains the Begums 
were fully compensated, at the time and in perpetuity; and 
to speak of the enforced surrender of the late Vizier's hoard, 
which had never been theirs legally or morally, and of its 
restoration to the owner, as confiscation and robbery, is to 
misuse words. Nor is it true that this treasure was accepted 
by the Government of Bengal in satisfaction of its claims 
on the Government at Oude (whirh implies that it took the 
whole), whereas the Bengal Government took nothing but 
the sum long due to it, and took that sum from the Vizier, 
in 'vvhvl><: hands the re~ldul' of the t;!easure relT'ained. Was 
there ever, Jet the reader say, a greater trave<;ty of historical 
statement than this? 

Sir Alfred Lyall, \\h()~e clearly-written account of these 
transaction" jc, in close accordance with what appears in the 
preceding pages, m:lkes a rE'mark at the clo"e with which it 
is impossible to agree. JIe condemns z.ny 'mea"urcs of 
coercion again~t \\omen and eunuchs as unworthy and in: 
defensible'. Unless it is meant that all member~ of the 
gentler sex, and those of no sex at all, arc to be at liberty 
to do what they choose irrespective of law amI justice 
(which would be a strange doctrine), we cannot understand 
this ~xpression. To bring the que;,tion home, let us con­
sider it by the light of English usage, and, we may add, of 
Engh'>h common 5cn<;e. We do not Lelieve that in funda­
mental ideas of truth and equity the East can differ much 
from \ he '"V e~t. Let U'i ;,uppose that these ladies of the 
zenana had been Englishwomen of noble birth and position, 
and that they (as 'Such English ladies have done before now, 
and may come to do again) refused to give u~ to its owner 
property which did not belong to them. The records of 
the High Court of Justice will show what ha~pens to 
Englishwomen, be tlley duchesses or be they wai,hel''Women, 
who will n(,t obey the law. They go to prison till they 
comply wi-.h the order of the Court. No doubt this coercion 
would be disag .. ecable, and some possibly wC'Jld agree with 
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Sir Alfred Lyall, and think it 'indefensible'. But it would 
be necessary, and it would be enforced. What more did 
the Begu'ms suffer? In some respects much less, for though 
imprisoned it was in their own palace, and they were never 
moved from their secluded apartments. 

With regard to the two eunuchs it is another matter, and 
no English \Witer can do otherwise than condemn the 
severity practised upon them by order of the Vizier. That 
severity was grossly e}O{lggerated I1y the orators of the 
Impeachment, but, whatever it was, \Varren Hastings knew 
nothing of it, and, as l1r. Forrest has said, {cannot be held 
responsible'. But the notion that the eunuchs, like their 
mistre~es, should have been sacred from coercion, is absurd. 
Srr Alfred Lyall hims~f says of them that they 'were 
certainly not infirm effeminate guardians of the harem, but 
the chief advi~ers aud agents of the Begums, men of great 
wealth and influence in the palace, and in command of the 

.armed forces '. It was they who had actively helped the 
outbreak at lknares, and had stirfed up insurrection in 
Oude. There are abundant instanc($ to be found in history 
of the prominent part which such per~ons can play in public 
affairs. To give one for example: Narses, the intrepid and 
victorious defender of Italy against northern invasion, was, 
as Gibbon narrates, a eunuch. It would be grotesque to 
suppose that he therefore held himself to be free from the 
obligations of loyalty and law. 

There is a curious piece of testimony in regard to one of 
t:t.se two Fyzabad eunuchs to be found in Voyages and 
TrWiJcls by Viscount Valentia, who met that personage at 
Lucknow in 1803. Lord Valentia describes him as a 
venerable oltl woman-like being, upwards of eighty, full six 
feet high, and stout in proportion. 'After all the cruel 
plundt!rings which he is stated to have undergone, he is 
supposed. to be ~orth half a milli'in of money.' Lord 
Valentia also writetl in another place: • Almas the eunuch 
paid me a visit. He is held here in much ~onsideration 
from the p~mincnt part he has borne in politics; from 

M2 
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having once held above half the province of Oude, and 
from his consequently great riches.' He had afterward~ 
the honour of a visit from Lord Wellesley, then G-overnor­
General. There is no mention of his having made any 
complaint, and, judging from the account given by LOld 
Valentia, he had not suffered much, either in pur~e or 
person, from the alleged torment and confis!N.tion. 



CHAPTER VII I 

SUMMARY 

MACAULAY was by no means the worst of Warren Hast­
ings' accusers. Unconsc~usly no do.bt,he misrepresented 
here, and embellished there, and wrote injustice when he 
believed he was recording history. But he was a man of 
too clear p(jlitical visi~n and too statesmanlike a mind 
to swal~w all the calumnies of Burke. This was the more 
to -his honour because ~s admiration for Burke was ex­
tremely high. Macaulay \Va!> a Whig of the old school, 
and to the Old Whigs Burke was a prophet. But the true 
Whig mind has always been moderate, and Macaulay, while 
unfortunately adopting much of Burke's view as to the 
• -political conduct of Warren Hastings, shrank from his 
violent and prejudiced abuse of the great Governor-General. 

Those who care to undergo the labour of perusing the 
11ine days' speech in reply made by Burke at the close 
of the Impeachment will certainly oe astonished, and per­
haps be &,gustcd, by the ,>currility of his language and 
the incoherence of hi" accuo,ations. It would seem that 
to his mind the gifted man who had ruled British India 
for thirteLn year!>, \\ho had brought it through a great war, 
ant secured for it an honourable peace, was not a statesman 
at all; he was nothing but' a fraudulent bullock contractor'. 
He was not to be "poken of as anything important; he 
, was not a tiger or a lion, he was a weasel and a rat '. He 
was' captain-general of iniquity', and that of the baser sort. 
All thftt he had done was to put money into his own hands, 
and to p~e up ri~hes by the starvavon of the people of 
India. Again and. again Burke declared his profound 
admiration for Clavering, Monson, and Francis, the only 
wise and inc~rupt administrators, as it wQoUld appear, that 
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India had ever seen. No doubt he had adopted their story 
that Warren Hastings had accumulated four hundred thou­
sand pounds in two and a half years by sheer ro1::rbery amI 
peculation. A man who believed this would believe any­
thing, and would never ask for the evidence of facts, nor 
indeed credit them when they were produced. 

Burke affirmed that Warren Hastings was.bribed by the 
Munny Begum to appoint her as the personal guardian 
of the young Nawab {')f Bengal. • He admitted that there 
was no proof of the bribe; but there was no need of any 
proof; it was plain on the face of the transaction that the 
Governor -';i0ulJ llcver have itppoin\ed her unkss she had 
paid him to do <:0. Again, for what purpose did }Varren 
Hastings cause a new assessment ttJ be made of the landed 
prop~rty ill Bengal? Merely to enrich himself; whenever 
the valuation was r:J.ised. of course he put the difference into 
his pocket. For what did he e::;tablish nc\\" provincial 
courts? Simply to grind money out of the people. For 
what did he go to Denares? To levy a fine enormoU'> in', 
its amount, so that the portion which he might appropriate 
to himself shculd be the larger. Why did he harry the 
Begums, noble ladies who were models of feminine amia.! 
bil!ty and patience? Of course only to add to his own 
immense wealth. For what purpose had Oude been mis­
governed under its unhappy and persecuted ruler? Solely 
to s3.tisfy the pcrson:.tl greed of \Varrl'n Hastings. And so 
on through nine days of weary iteration and angry invective, 
till the impatience of the Lord" more than once (as \l}c 
verbatim report shows) broke through the traditional 
decorum of their House. The entire accusation, in all its 
branches, was based 011 the hypothesis of perstJnal corrup­
tion. The details wer~, mainly, from that mint of lies 
at which Philip Francis worked with the energy of pe.fsonal 
hate; but the ,>ubstrufture throughout w~s the bflief, held 
by Burke with sincerity as much as witl\ blind passion, that 
Warren Ha~ings had had, during his whole period in office, 
no object but th.t of making money. 



SUMMARY 

Now what did Ma'cau!ay, strong accu,,~r as he wa" on 
many other points, say to the charge of corruption? Speak­
ing of the character of Warren Hastings in this regard-,we 
quote from the Essay-< There is, we conceive, no reason to 
suspect that the Rohilla War, the revolution of Benareo., 
or the spoliation of the Princesses of Oude added a rupee 
to his fortune. We will not affirm that in all pecuniary 
dealings he sh~wed that punctiliou!:' integrity, that dread of 
the faintest appearance of evil, \\ hich i" now the .glory of 

• • the Indian civil service. Rut when the school in which he 
had been trained and the temptations to which he was 
exposed are considere<1, we are more inclined to praise him . . 
for his general uprightness with re'>pect to money, than 
ri~idly· to blame him ffir a few transactions which would 
now be called indelicate and irregular, but which even now 
would hardly be designated as corrupt. A rapacious man 
he certainly was not. Had he been so, he would infallibly 
have returned to his country the richest o.ubject in Europe. 
We speak within compass when we ;"iY that, without 
applying any extraordinary pressure, he might easily have 
obtained from the zemindars of the Company's provinces 
and from neighbouring princes, in the course of thirtcen 
year", more than three lDilliOlb <,terling, and might have out­
shone the splcndour (.f Carlton House and of the Palm's 
Royal. He brought home a fortune such as a Governor­
General, fond of "tate and carc1es:, of thrift, might easily, 
during so long a tenure of office, save out of his legal 
salary.' 
-That is a clear and, taken as a who:e, a just statement 

of the case. It proves, at any rate, that Macaulay did not 
credit the !?Joss imputations brought by the Managers of the 
Impeachment. Warren Hastings once made a deliberate 
decl:yation that he was never, at any period of his life, 
worth more than a hundred thousand pounds; and there 
are kno\rn facts" which bear out tne statement. He had 
bought Daylesfor~ just ",t the time when the Jmpeachment 
proceeding~ began, cl11d his outlay on the property had 
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probably commenced in the earlier years of the ttIal. nis 
may possibly have accounted for some twenty thousand 
powds. It cannot now be ascertained with any .certainty 
what were the costs of the defence, but it has generally been 
assumed that they amounted to at least seventy thousand 
pounds. He was left practically insolvent when he was 
discharged from the bar of the House of Loris, and nothing 
but the munificence of the East India Company saved him 
from ending his days ill: absolute peIJury. It is evident, then, 
that he could not have had more than a hundred thousand 
pounds on his return to England, and, reckoning that he 
may havt: c:aved some six or ' sevla thousanq a y'ear in 
Calcutta, the estimate of Macaulay is pretty accurately 
borne out. ( t (. 

But the passage from the Essay quoted above cannot 
be left without some further observations. It was given at 
length ' for the sake of complete candour, but it must not 
be supposed that its language is acquiesced in throughout. ' 
Macaulay's style, in all his writings, is apt to slip into ', 
generalities when specific statements are called for, and to 
evade proof by raising up a cloud of words. When, in speak­
ing of Warren Hastings' public conduct, he intimates a wante 
of' punctilious integrity' in certain' pecuniary dealings', he 
was bound in truth and justice to state with precision what 
these dealings were. He admits that the Governor-General 
did \lot take bribes and did not peculate. What then did 
he do? Macaulay could not have meant that he took 
presents in money, for the same paragraph of the Essay, iP 
its continuance, expressly contrasts his conduct in this 
respect with that of his wife, who, it says, ' accepted presents 

ith great alacrity,' But it is added that she <tid so with­
out the connivance of her husband. This portion of the 
passage is quoted with re1uctance; but it is neces&afY to 
make things clear. If, then, Warren Hastings took neither 
bn'bes nor pecuniary presents, and kept his' hands (~ from 

v 
miAppro~ion, in what way was he other than I punc-
tilious ' in hia int~ty? 

{ 
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Tak.!'t and engTdved by eorge Chubb in . 795. (It formed the 
upper part of an questrian portrait. ) 
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We dwell on this • tion the more because, in all 

earlier part of the Esstlfl, ill said of him that' be was aot 
.squeamish in pecuniary transactions '. This is eiven as 
a bare assertion; no commentary is added to elucidate the 
text. Now if it is meant that in Warren Hastings' time 
a Governor-General received, in addition to a large salary, 
lavish allowyces for t,able money and receptions, or that 
his journeys in the provinces and visits to neighbouring 
princes were defrayed Vberally out.of public fun~s, all this . 
may be true, but such expenditure was open and avowed, 
known to all men, and wholly free from the taint of malver­
satioq. TJtese were the customs of a past time, it may be 
not entirely non-existent In the present, and looked upon 
then,· perhaps, as a n~essary lubrication of the somewhat 
difficult mechanism of government 

Or, if any allusion was intended to ~e large sum -eft'ered 
to Warren Hastings at Calcutta, as a personal present, by 
the agent of the Rajah of Benares, the allusion should have 
been open and explicit. That affair, viewed in the light of 
circumstances subsequently disclosed, did nothing but 
honour to the Governor-General, though maliciously dia­
torted in the tales told by his enemies. He at once refused 
the offer; but when it was again pressed upon him be­
agreed to receive the money, not as a present to himself, 
but as a gift to the Company. At that moment the 
treasury was desperately empty of cash, the expqijtion 
against Scindia (on the succe~ of which the quest· of 
pking peace turned) was urgently in need of funds, as wu 
the secret senrice in some other places;. and Warren Hast­
ings took t'he twenty thousand pounds, used it foa- the 
public ~s, 3)Ild subsequently acquainted the Board 
of Dir~· fact. I It w a strong thing to do, 

• 
1 i a letter, *eel No~ber 29, t1io, he wrote-' The money 

DM'my owD,.aJId I neither could or would have received it, 
buf for your benellt.' Mr. Forrest laYS: 'The acceptaDce of this 
preBeDt 1t'&$ one of the charges of bn'bery brought 19ainst HutiDp, 
but after th. varioUi md frank avowa1t .hie; he mad !laviDg 

• • 

• 
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and required a strong man to do it. He was well aware 
that he ran the risk of misunderstanding and misrepresen­
tation; but he faced the risk, at that critical time, as he 
faced many others, not in his own interest, but in the 
interests of British India, to which, by afterwards carrying 
through the negotiation with Scindia, he restored peace and 
prosperity. 

It was necessary to give a plain reply to the loose intima­
tions of m~3conduct, or want of prop;f conduct, in pecuniary 
matters, made as above by Macaulay. But it is not 
intended to carry controver"y further on the point. What 
is intended is to deny categudc~lIy thdt any mO\1ey t,ran!>­
action, public or private, conducted by W arren Ha~tings 

was other than punctilious in it" intebrity, and to challenge' 
contradiction thereon by any testimony of recorded fach 

There are other expressions llsed in the Essay which 
cannot be passed by without asking flOm en'ry impartial 
reader of the preceding chaptel s a verdict of repudiation. 
More than once Macaulay attribute" 'crimes' to the 
Governor-General. \Vhen, for instance ,. he r('futes the 
Imputation (assuredly not made herein) that Burke wa" 
animated by unworthy motive'> in hi~ attach: '\-Vhy 

received it, it is impossible to belt t:ve that he could have had an 
idea of converting it to hIs own use. The perpetual dissensions in 
Council and the ah)o~t unremitted opposition m.ule to lhe measures 
propost!d by Hastings induced hl1n to do many unconstltutlOl1,tl ac ts 
which he wot::ld not have done had he been fr~c and unshackled. 
If he received sums of money without the consent of hIS wlleagues. 
it must be borne III mind that he also expended sums of money 
without their p<. rticipatlOl1 or consent. H e paid without their know­
ledge three lakhs of rupee!. for the uninterrupted pas!.age 0f our 
army to the coa"t. Hastings had also often to "pend SUIftS of money 
on secret service which he haJ every reason to believe the majority 
would oppose.' .. 

Sir Alfred Lyall (p. J28) speaks of some transaction with the 
Vizier of Qude, and enlarj!,es the amount to a hundred tnousand 
pounds; but we apprehend that the story is il. reality the same 
as that narrateti: and commented on in the Introduction to the 
State Papers, lntrod., Pp. Iv, Ivi. 
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should we look for any other explanation of Burke's conduct 
than that which we find on the surface? The plain truth is 

.that Hastings had committed some great crimes and that 
the thought of those crimes made the blood of Burke boil 
in his veins.' So also when speaking of the fate of N un­
coomar: 'While therefore we have not the least doubt 
that this mei\orable execution is to be attributed to Hast­
ings, we doubt whether with justice it can be reckoned 
among his crimes.' J\.nd again, .at the comtfiencement 
of a general review (highly laudatory) of his long adminis­
tration, the Essay says: 'it is impossible to deny that, 
agail\St t11& great criTnes with which it was blemished, we 
have to set off :;;reat public 'iervices.' It is clear, therefore, • 'hat Macaulay imput~ crimes, and in the name of justice 
and truth, it is asked, what crime" ? 

N ow it will be found that there are "ix leading charges 
laid again 'it \Van'en Hastings at one time or another, which 
are enumerated below; one of them is not pressed as 
a crime by Macaulay, though strongly condemned, 

1. The Rohilb War. 
2. Trial and execution of N unc-oomar. 
3. Treatment of the Nawab and Emperor. 
4. Wars with Mahrattas and Hyder Ali. 
5. Affair with Cheit Sing. 
6. Affair with the Begum~, 

We propose to briefly reproduce, under each he~d, the 
circumstances narrated above in our pages. To the reader 

.we shall leave it whether in anyone 1l1stance the word 
, crime' is justly applicable. 

The Rohilla War is repre~ented in the Essay as an 
unscrupuk>us device employed by lvVarren Hastings to 
obtain money for the Company; as a bargain which he 
dreAr':! with Sujah-ul-Dowla, the Vi7.ier of Oude, to lend 
him Fi,glish troops for the conquest of Rohilcund and the 
extirpation of tie Rohilla tribes, in consideration of a sum 
of four hundred thousamI pounds paid by thi Vizier. 

The rell facts ,,,ere very different. They arc stated at • 
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length (with authorities) in our second chapter, and, put 
shortly, they are these. The Rohillas brought on the war 
by their own perfidious and dangerous conduct. . When, 
their territory was invaded by the Mahrattas, whom they 
were unable to resist, they were glad enough of help both 
from Oude and from Calcutta. Help was given and the 
Mahrattas were driven off. The Rohillas CDvpnanted, in a 
treaty witnessed and countersigned by the English Com­
mander, tC pay the Vi~ier the sum of forty lacs. They 
never paid a rupee; and it was discovered that they were 
secretly intriguing with the Mahrattas in order to evade the 
obligation Thci;' pc,fiJy gave th .. Vizih a Just provociJ,tion 
to war, and gave us a valid reason for assisting our ally. 
Of all this Macaulay says nothing. \1-'hen Warren Has\ings' 
was at Rcnares, arranging with Sujah-ul-Dowla the terms 
of the treaty by which Korah and Allahabad were ceded to 
the Vizier, a proposal wa" made by the latter that he 
should, in order to punish the Rohilla treachery, have the 
aid of some English troops, for which he was ready to pay. 
Warren Hastings discouraged the idea, contented himself 
with saying that, if such an arrangement were made, the 
terms would l1ece~sariJy be heavy, and went back to 
Calcutta without giving any assent. The Vizier subse­
quently wrote, renewing the proposal. Warren Hastings 
was by this time fuJly informed of the plots of the Rohillas; 
he cOI).cluded that W:-J)' 'tgaimt them wa::. just; he foresaw 
the danger to our own territory if they allied them!>elves 
with the Mahrattas; and perceived that the annexation of 
Rohilcund to Oude would carry out his policy of strengthen­
ing the nOlth-western frontier. He laid the letter of the 
Vizier before the Council, and explained t%>e whole 
situation. After long and anxious consideration the 
Council resolved to assist the Vizier, and ordered a brigLde 
to advance into Oude for that purpose. The war wils cut 
short by one sharp conflict, which broke thr, -Rohilla power, 
usurped some sixty years before. The atrocities so luridly 
described in the E {say were contradicted by eye witnesses 
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at the time, and may be dismissed as gross exaggera­
tions or malicious inventions. The net result, as given by 

.Mr. Fonest, is, that (about seventeen or eighteen hundred 
Rohillas, with their families, were expelled from Rohilcund, 
and Hindu inhabitants, amounting to about seven hundred 
thousand, remained in possession of their patrimonial acres, 
and were sein cultivating their fields in peace.' 1 This is 
the true statement of the case, and its difference from the 
rhetorical account given by Ma~'lulay b the.difference 
between ·fact and fiction. 

2. The charge made in the matter of Nuncoomar, a high 
priest of .he order ~f Rrahmins, and a man of marked 
ability and influence, though of evil character, was this: it 
·was alleged that Wan~n Hastings, having been-accused by 
N uncoomar before the Council of taking bribes and other 
peculation, suborned the pro~ecution of his accuser on a 
charge of forgery, the transaction out of which the charge 
arose having taken place six years before: that Nuncoomar 
was, under this accusation, brought to trial before Sir Elijah 
Impey, the Chief Justice, who was d~scribed as in collusion 
with the Governor-General, arraigned before an English 
jury, found guilty, sentenced to death, and hanged. All 
this being brought about by Warren Hastings to silence a 
dangerous enemy. 

The entire story has b"een shown to be absolutely untrue. 
Years ago, Sir J ames Stephen, a Judge of the EJlglish 
High Court of Justice, who had, when serving as a member 
.,f Council at Calcutta, the opportunity of looking into the 
history of the case, proved conclusively in his St01"Y of 
N1I1zcoomar that Warren Hastings was innocent of the 
conduct illlputed to him. The account given in the Intro· 
duction to the State Papers shows also that the accusation 
wa:fnot only untrue but was impossible. It proves that the 
proce~ings which led to the arrest and trial of Nuncoomar 
were commenc~e six weeks befo;e he made any charge 

• See also the explicit and authoritative statem~t by Sir John 
Strachey, gi'en in our se.:ond chapter. 
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against the Governor-General, who could have had, therefore, 
no motive or interest in the matter. 

The solemn declaration made by Warren Hastings on, 
oath before the Supreme Court, that he had never interfered 
in any way with the trial, or had anything to do with the 
prosecution, was absolutely true. 

3. Treatment of the Nawab of Bengal,. and of the 
Emperor of Delhi. These matters embodied the charges 
made by Macaulay when "peaking ~f the need of bettering 
the finances of Bengal, and there can be no doubt that he 
reckoned them among what he termed the great crimes of 
\ IT H' , .... I- b . h '~arren U,::;tm~" dUfil1l11stratlvn. t IS e;;,t t,t) gl'1e t e 
accusation in Macaulay's own wOlds: 'A mind so fer~i1e as 
his, and so little restrained by ~,mscientious scruples,t 
speedily discovered several modes of relieving the financial 
embarra'ismentc, of the Government. The allowance of the' 
Nabob of Bengal \~as reduced at a ,>troke f10lD three hundred 
and twenty thousand a year to half that !->um. The Com­
pany had bound itself to pay ncar three hundted thousand 
pounds a year to the great Mogul, a') t mark of homage 
for the provinces which he had entrusted to the;r care; and 
they had ceded to him the districts of Corah and Allahabad. 
On the plea that the Mogul wa" not really independent, but 
merely a tool in the hand<., of others, Hdstings determined 
to retract the;;,e concessions. He accordingly declared that 
the Engli"h would p:1)' no more tribute, and sent troops to 
occupy Corah and Allahabad. The "ituation of these 
places was :;uch that there would be little advantage anr;1 
great expenc;e in retaining them. H astillg'>, who wanted 
money and n)t territolY, determined to sell them. A pur­
chaser was not wanting .... Sujah Dowlah, tJee Nabob 
Vizier, was on excelJent terms with the English. He had 
a large treaSUf(~. Allahabad and Corah were so sitlfuted 
that they might be of use to him and could be of /lone to 
the Company. The buyer and seller ~;on came to an 

1 The reader ("ill observe this imputation of motive. unsupported 
by proof, and unwarr~ntable. 
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understanding, and the provinces which had been torn from 
the Mogul were made over to the Government of Oude for 
,about half a million of pounds sterling.' This passage is a 
grave misrepresentation of the real facts, and was written, 
probably enough, in reliance on the distorted statements 
made by Burke, who in turn was indebted for his informa­
tion to the iaventions of Philip Francis. 

The reduction of the income allowed to the Nawab of 
Bengal (at that time a.minor unde. the guardian!hip of the 
Munny !3egum) was made, quite equitably, in consequence 
of the abolition of the double government in Bengal, one 
of tq,c m~st salutar/ measures which the statesmanship of 
Warren Hastings ever achieved. It was one thing to pay 
·the ~awab a lavish .allowance when he was the ruling 
prince of Bengal; it would have been quite another to 
continue such a payment when he had become simply a 
great noble. In his changed position an allowance of a 
hundred and sixty thousand pounds a year can hardly be 
considered other than liberal. It is curious that Macaulay, 
who counted the abolition of the double government among 
the conspicuou<; mcrits of Warren Hastings' administration, 
did not perceivc that the one change in the N awab's 
position wa'> naturally con'>equent on the other. 

The supersession of the payment to the Delhi Emperor 
was on different ground~, but wa.'> equally defensible. When 
the Emperor was driven from Delhi by the menaceaof the 
Mahratta hordes, the provinces of Korah and Allahabad 
,were secured to him by the Company, as a sure refuge and 
a means to maintain his dignity. It is true they had also 
agreed to pay him a yearly revenue of about three hundred 
thousandepounds in return for his grant of the three provinces 
of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa. All this was before the time 
of .Varren Hastings' rulership. When he became Governor 
the reJations of the Emperor to the Mahrattas, and conse­
quently to tfl; English, had ~greatly changed. The 
:Mahrattas, always restless, had found it ~olitic to make 
friends with the Emperor. They had _restored him to his 
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palace at Delhi, had themselves occupied Korah and 
Allahabad, and were swaying, for their own purposes, the 
policy of the Court at Delhi. This was a state of things, 
which Warren Hastings refused to tolerate.! Through all the 
years of his governmer..t he wa!> specially sensitive to the 
safety of the north-western frontier of the Company's 
provinces. He knew Mahratta ways; he knel" their habit 
of secret intrigue, as he knew their custom of predatory 
invasion. - He was resolved, in pro~';!ction of the territory 
committed to his charge, to oust them from Allahabad and 
Korah. He moved up a force for that purpose, and the 
Mahrattas PI uJt:lItiy retired. It was ~not WarrelJ Ha~tings 
who had tom these districts from the Emperor; it was the 
Emperor himself who had ceded t~em to the Mahr'attas: 
It is true that the Governor sold them to the Vizier, on 
whose territory they abutted, and who was in a position to 
defend them. In that respect the const"nt object of 
strengthening the frontier was pursued. The sale was as 
wise in policy as it was financially opportune. 

The revenue paid to the Emperor was for the mainten­
ance of his independence, and also to preserve the common 
interests of the Empire. It was never intended, and it 
could not be borne, that it should be used to subsidize a 
lawless and rapacious power, and to furnish arms for aggres­
sion. Warren Hastings refused then, as he always refused, 
to supply out of the revenues of the Company. either to 

1 On October 12, 1773, Warren Hastings stated the case clearly 
to the Council. in answer to Sir Robert Barker: 'The Government 
bestowed the districts of Corah and Allahabad upon the King Shah 
Allum of its (,wn free will "for the support of his dignity and 
expenses." He first abandoned, and afterwards, by a solemn grant, 
he gave them away to the Mahrattas. We disapproved of-the grant, 
because it frustrated the purpose for which these lands were bestowed 
on the King, and because we saw danger in admitting so poworful 
a neighbour on tht. borders of our ally. It was therefore resolved 
to resume the possession of those lands, not from-the King~ whose 
property and right were annulled by his own :\1ienation of them, 
but from the Mal~rattas, their new proprietors:-State Papers, vol. I, 
P·71• 
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known enemies or to dubious friends, any pecuniary 
resource. He cut off t.he payment to the Emperor, because 
the position of that potentate had become, in re~pect to 
English interests, of doubtful augury. 

4. The Mahratta War owed it..~ origin to the rashness of 
the Governor and Council of Bombay. They espoused the 
cause of oneA Raghoba, a claimant to the office of the 
Peishwa, the virtual head of the Mahlatta Co~deracy. 
To suPPOtt the preten~er's claim, !nd in hopes of thus 
establishing a control over the Confederacy, the Bombay 
Government ordered i military fClce to advance towards 
Poonali. ~ainst this act , as being beyond the powers of a 
suborcijnate Pre~idency, and in itself unjust and impolitic, 
~arren Hastings protested vigorously. He wrote a 
dispatch, ordering that the expedition sent should be 
recalled, unless it han already obtained some decisive 
~uccess; which, as it turned out, it had actually done. But 
the hostile majority in the Council at Calcutta overruled 
the Govemor-Genelal, and lesolved that the force should 
be recalled unconditionally. Thi'i fatal course was the 
beginning or fnuch mlsfOl tunc The M ahlatta~, encouraged 
~y the ~how of weakness, rcfll~cd fOI ~ome time to make 
peace; and when they did ~o, the treaty of Purandhar, 
lpPJOved hy the majority.of the Council, wa~ of such a 
nature that It was signed against the wl»h, and with no 
more than the reluctant cl%ent, of Warren Hastmgs. • 

When the Governor-General, owing to the deaths of 
M~nson and Clavcring, rccovcled the control of his Council, 
he discovered that a French agent 1 was at Poonah, openly 
received by the Mahratta Government, and believed to be 
engaged in slcret negotiations with them. Warren Hastings, 
in accordance with hiS usual policy, determined to strike the 
first b!t>w. He scnt a military force acro",s India to menace 
Poonah, q;1d he w~thdrew the interdic. against the action of 
the Bombay GovCll"t1ment. For this he was afterwards 
fiercely denounc.ed by Burke, and thE' long a~d doubtful 

1 The Chevalier de St. Lubm. 
N 
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contest which ensued was laid \\ ith much malediction at his 
door. But looking at the relations then existing between 
France and England, the cour<;e pursued seems to have bee.! 
both statesmanlike and salutary. Macaulay expresses the 
opinion that if other circumstances (such as the invasion by 
Hyder Ali) had not intervened, Warren Hastings would have 
seen his measures against the Mahrattas crowned with success. 
As it wts, though faced by herculean difficulties, he held his 
own against all odds, t'riumphed fin,dly over all re,verses, and 
obtained by persistent efforts an honourable peace. 

The provccJ.t:cm ;;iven to Hyd~r Ali and the Nizam 
were mo~t unfortunate, resulting at; they did ir. the "errible 
invasion of the Carnatic, and in ... a desoldting tho!lgh, in 
some respects, gloriou<; wal. But these errors and misfeas­
ances were in no way due to Witrren Hastings. It was his 
misfortune at this crisis that while on the one side of India 
he had to meet and remedy the "hort('oming~ at Bombay, 
he had on the other to deal with the mistakes and mis­
conduct at Madra~. It wat; not he who engaged in a 
discreditable intrigue again~t the Nizam, nor h(' who neg­
lected all preparation against the ho~ts of Hyder. But he 
had to face the consequences of both blunders and of much 
else beside. He had not only to guard Bengal when 
threatened with foreign inva~ion>and be~et with treacherous 
revolt, but he had simultaneously on his 'lhoulder~ the two 
;,uoordinate Presidencies, helpless alike in policy and finance. 
The dangels and difficulties due to others were confronted 
by him with matchlei>s courage and address. It was OW;'1g 

to his administrative ;,kill, diplomatic adroitness, and rare 
tenacity of purpose, that a great combination of opponents 
was overcome, and that rest was finally given 1:1; India. 

5. The answer to the charge made in relation to Cheit 
Sing is short and simple. It i~ that the charge was f6Unded 
originally and rests tf.) this day on a mistake i~ fact. It 
was assumed by the Manager~ of theulmpeachment, and 
has been beiieved by thousands of readers, that Cheit Sing 
was an indepenJent and sovereign prince, no, accountable 
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to the Calcutta Government in any way, so long as he paid 
his fixed tribute. 

Macaulay, we are convinced, thought otherwise. In a 
carefully reasoned passage he intimates his opinion that 
the correct course was to acquit on the Benares charge. 
Yet in an earlier page he had these words: 'The English 
government QPw chose to wring money out of Cheit Sing. 
It had formerly been convenient to treat him as a sovereign 
prince; it was now cotlvenient to weat him as I subject. 
Dexterit/ inferior to that of Hastings could easily find, 
in rhe genenl chaos of laws and ctlstorr.s, arguments for 
either .cour.e.' A m~re misleading statement was never 
written. Noone in India, or possessed of any knowledge • o-r India, ever could, 0' ever did, think of Cheit Sing as 
a sovereign prince, for the good rcason that all the facts, 
plain on the surface of things, deEed such a supposition. 
Grandson of an adventurer, son of a farmer of the revenue, 
himself a va;.sal of the Vizier of Oude, who fined him 
at pleabure. handed over in his position of vassal, with 
all its customary obligations, to the Company. which thence­
forth becamt! hi", suzerain; what title to independence had 
'Cheit Sing? None in any way; except, indeed, in his 
own fatal dreams, when he fancied that the English were 
about to be driven from b:dia, and he hoped to be elevated 
on their ruin. 

In effect, Cheit Sing was a zemindar, though a IJreat 
one, of the Company, and was justly treated as such by 
t~ Governor-General. It is true that the fine imposed 
was heavy; but it was intended as a punishment for his 
contumacy and intrigue, as well as a contribution required 
by the Sta1e in its urgent necessity. The whole proceed­
ing was legal; it was approved by the only other Member 
of C.uncil available at the time; and no candid inquirer 
into its J'listory 'Z'ill find, on the patt of Warren Hastings, 
anything in the n~ure of a crime. 

It may be recorded as noteworthy that 4Ilfter all the 
fervid oratoPy of Burke, only six peers c~uld pc found to 
vote in support of the Benares charge. 

N~ 
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6. The charge brought against Warren Hastings in 
regard to the Begums of Oude, was nothing less than 
this; that he conspired with the Vizier, Asaph-ul-Dowl .. , 
to rob two helpless ladie:" Princesses of Oude, mother and 
grandmother to one of the conspirators, despoiling them 
of a large sum of money, besidf's depriving them of their 
landed estates. It has been widely beli~ed that this 
charge was true. 

As a f'fact, the morley in questIon was not the lawful 
property of the Begums. It was the treasure that had 
been accumulated by the formel Vilier, Sujah-ul-Dowla, 

.' and by the layv of the I-:0ran It hplollCed to '"Iis S9n and 
successor. The Begume had kept him out of most of it, 

,t 

relying on the protection of the tcnana, and had received 
in return for the comparatively small portion they gave 
up, jaghires (i. c. landed c:,tates) of fdr greater value. For 
the rest th<:'y :,et the Vi,ier at defiance, and maintained 
a cO.(1siderable armed force unde! the command of their 
two chief eunuchs. They might have retained all undis­
turbed, had they remained quiet. But when the Benares 
insurrection broke out, the Begums, through their age'nts 
and follower!:>, aided the insurgents; in fact. waged war' 
against the Company. Warren Hastings thereupon with­
drew the guarantee that had be~n formerly given to them, 
and treated t.hem as open enemies. 

At thi!:> time the Vizier owed a large amount to the 
Calcutta Government. He explained that owing to the 
detention ::>f the treasure by the Begum!>, he had no means 
to pay. As the Governor-Gener,il represented the chief 
creditor of the Vizier, he agreed to as~ist in the recovery 
of the money. Thi::. was done. The Begum!:>Horces were 
disarmed, their ja£:hires were resumed, and their palace 
blockaded by English troops. After a stubborn resi~ance, 
in which, however, no., blood was ~hcd, ~he treaiure was 
given up to the Vizier by the eunuchs, .'lnd out of it the 
obligations tiue to the Company were discharged. The 
Begums req:ived(>en~ions in compensation for ttleir jaghires. 
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They were never personally molested during the whole 
affair . 
• The treatment of the eunuchs, contumacious as they 
were, is not defensible; but for this the Resident at 
Lucknow was alone responsible. 

Unless it be criminal to assist in compelling persons 
illegally possW3sed of property to restore it to its lawful 
owner (a proceeding which is habitually carried out by 
our Courts), it is diffic1!lt to see ho'W Warren Ha~ings can 
be charge~ with crime in this matter. 

The short summaries given above of the circumstances • out 0' which the six principal charges originated, have 
been ~ritten with careful candour, with no other object 
tlIan that of stating th'= real b.cts, and it is believed that 
in every instance they will stand the test of impartial 
inquiry. It is submitted that in no case can any proof 
of crime of any kind be cstablished. To suppose that in 
every transaction above dc!>cribcd there was no error, no 
fault in design, no imperfection as to detail, would be to 
believe that human nature was ab"ent from the history. 
Bt!t to supPt>se "hortcoming, or, if you will, frailty, is not 

-to suggest crime, unless you are to expel moral justice 
from the con!>ideration of public acts. It is this want of 
moral justice which canqemns Macaulay far the repeated 
assumptions of guilt in his estimate of Warrcn Hastings' 
character and services. • 

It may be easy, for example, to find fault with the 
c¥tails of the Benares business. As it turned out it is clear 
that a more powerful force than the slender escort of the 
Governor-General should have been summoned, before such 
a step a!> tlte arrest of the Rajah was attempted. Warren 
Hastings was accustomed to obedience from the Natives, 
and ~as probably encouraged by the almost abject sub­
mission.shown ~t first by Cheit Sij1g. It must, however, 
be admitted that. he did not exhibit his usual judgement 
in the subsequent proceeding. Lamentable re~lts followed j 
but it woul!l surely be preposterous to .charge him with 
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crime, because he made one of his few mistakes. Take 
the case of a military commander. If he surrenders a 
fortress which he knows to be defensible, still more if he; 
does so corruptly, he i~ shot, and no man questions the 
justice of the sentence. But if what he does is to make 
a mistake in tactics, such a" Bercc;ford made at Albuera 
and Gough made at Chillia\\ allah, what QJitic does not 
feel that jallant services outweigh even a grave mistake? 

The same just and" generous ~ale applies ~qual1y to 
civil affairs, and it should be observed, if history is to be 
written with fairness. Certainly i$ should be observed 
as to such a man as \Vanen Hastings, in comJl:<leri~g not 
only the leading charges made against him with '>o,much 
virulence, but the whole -"tory of hft; official life. It would 
be strange indeed if during thirteen years of Governorship, 
marked by events of strenuou'> difficulty, in foreign policy, 
in domestic administration, and not least in finance, no 
mistake was ever made. A wide administraticn neces­
sitates a large patronage, and it would be idle to suppose 
that the best man was invariably "elected, or that merit 
was never postponed to favour in Bengal any" more th'dn 
in England. A strenuous war, waged over half a continent, 
called continually for a choice of the best officers, and the 
choice made was usually "Wi"e, but, no doubt, instances 
may be found, as at the commencement of .the Mahratta 
war,cafter the treaty of Purandhar had been swept away, 
where the choice may have bet'n unfortunate. In other 
words, \\Tarren Hastings was a mOltaI man, and his aG· 
ministration, whether in war or in peace, was subject to 
the incidents of human imperfection. Vvas the manage­
ment of successive Ministries in Great Britain, <It the same 
period, distinguished by greater success ? Was it not rather 
that the star of England sank everywhere save \fhere 
Warren Hastings upheln her flag? . • 

G ranting, then, in the thirteen years, .-many occasional 
imperfections(oand mistakes, are these more than spots on 
the sun when wtighed against the extraordin~ry services 
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of the LTovernor-General? I t is well to turn to the pages 
of Macaulay, and see what a critic, sometimes hostile, 
ilften misinformed or mistaken, but not wanting in gene­
rosity, says on this point. He, as we have shown some 
pages back, disdained to approve the coarse imputations 
of peculation and corruption. He was able in this respect 
to do justice W> the statesman who saved India. 

Thus, in speaking of the many losses sustained by 
England in the war site had wageg against a co-.bination 
of power~, he says: 'The only quarter of the world in 
whlth Britain had lost nothing was the quarter in which 
her illtere~s had beefl committed to the care of Hastings. 
In spite of the utmost exertions both of European and 
Asiat!c enemies, the ,.awer of our country in the East 
had been greatly augmented. Benares was subjected, the 
Nabob Vizier reduced to vassalage. That our influence 
had been thus extended, nay, that Fort William and Fort 
St. George had llvt been occupied with hostile armies, 
was owing, if we may trust the general voice of the English 
in India, to the skill and resolution of Hastings.' 

.He spob, too, in the highest tel ms, of the internal 
administration of the Governor-General. 'He dissolved 
the double government. He transferred the direction of 
affairs to English hands. Out of a frightful anarchy he 
educed at least a rude and imperfect order. The whole 
organization -by which ju:,tice was dbpensed, revenue col-

• lected, peace maintained throughout a territory not inferior 
iP popUlation to the dominions of Louis the Sixteenth or 
of the Emperor Joseph, was formed and "uperintended 
by him .... Whoever seriously considers what it is to 
construct Irom the beginning the whole of a machine so 
vast and complex as a government will allow that what 
Haings effected deserves high admiration .... It must be 
added that, while engaged in this most arduous task, he •• • was constantly .trammelled by orders from home, and 
frequently borne down by a majority in .council. The 
preservation of an Empire from a formidable combination .. -
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of foreign enemies, the construction of a goverdment in all 
its parts, were accomplished by him, while every ship 
brought out bales of censure from his employers, and whil<\ 
the records of every I'"onsultatioll were filled with acri­
monious minutes from his colleagues.' 

We have, in other places, been compelled to quote 
passages from the Essay in order to confutj errors or to 
comment on unfairness. It has been painful to do so; and 
it is all flle more con".olatory now to give these sentences, 
worthy of a great writer, in just appreciation M a great 
statesman. It is only to be regretted that Macaulay did 
not consult more and study careft.lly 'the records' of 
which he speaks. Those Minules of proceedi~gs tn the 
Council contain the true history I. of Warren Ha~ringsl 

Governorship, and it is they which testify of him. Had 
Macaulay, during the years when he hact ample opportunity, 
searched them thoroughly and looked up other documentary 
evidence at Calcutta, he \\-Quld have been "aved from many 
errors. He would not have de!'.cribed N uncoomar's trial 
as taken befote Sir Elijah Impey alone. He would not 
have affirmed that Warren Ha~ting~ made a ... ':largain 3t 
Benares with Sujah-ul-Dowla to extirpate the Rohillas, 
nor would he have written an extravd.gant account of 
(::,uppused) horrors perpetrated on that people. He would 
not have stated that Korah and Allahabad were 'torn 
from the Mogul.' He would not have said that Cheit Sing 
had ~ee'1 treated by the Ellglish authOlltie<; as a suvereign 
prince; nor would he have depicted the Begum~ a» ' robbed' 
of trea'>ure" which were never theirs, except by deceit and' 
violence on their own part. 

In one respect Macaulay did look carefully' into the 
facts; he did so as to the conduct of the war. It is 
observable that on this point he has nothing but p~ise 
for Warren Hastings. It would be difficult indeed to 
arrive at any other opi'ilion; for it is certain thai when 
France declared war and when Hyder Aili broke into the 
Camatic, the ~lvation of British interests in .Hindustan 
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was due to·the Governor-General. It was not simply that he 
was foremost· in the effort; he had neither companion nor 
Fompetitor; he stood alone. When others hesitated and 
shook; when Philip Francis quailed before the storm and 
counselled the abandonment of the Carnatic; Warren 
Hastings, 'with Palinure's unaltered mood,' at once rose 
to the emeriency, shipped off Coote with troops and 
money to Madras, calmly faced the danger to Bengal, by 
sheer courage and firmJless carried V1e ship of sta~ through 
the hurri'tane, and brought her safe into port. He was 
a ~reat war minister, and yet it is to be observed that he 
never ma~e war e;)(~pt in defence. During his thirteen 

• years of rule he never annexed a single province. His 
~olic~ was never agglCssive; it \;'a~ habitually prudent 
and watchful, though, when needful, it was bold. His 
leading idea was to unite, by pacific treaties, the various 
Native states around the centre of our government, and 
thus to make British influence predominant throughout 
India. It may be noted, too, that he desired to see the 
Company's territories placed under the direct rule of the 
Crown, a~ he opened his views on this subject to the 
Prime Minister of the day. It was three-quarters of a 
century b~fore that idea was realized; but it is probable 
that the prescience of Warren Hastings foresaw the future 
day, and it is certain tnat if he could have lived to hail it, 
none would have rejoiced more when the crown of Timour 
was placed on the head of our Sovereign. 

But it may be confidently averred that nothing in his 
~hole career was more remarkable that the moral elevation 
which he gave to Indian administration and policy. He 
had been ~ Calcutta during the governor~hip of Vans itt art, 
and in that welter of corruption had kept his hands clean. 
Wbin he returned as Governor his first effort was to sub­
stitute civilized rule for anarchy. He succeeded. He raised 
the ser~ice of tfle Company from fhe low level of a sordid 
scramble for we!lth to the high plane of sta~smanship and 
patriotism. It was a moral revolution.i. and the glorious 
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history of Anglo-Indian administration dates f from that 
change. 

Warren Hastings was, in sober truth, the founder of. 
British India; and whatever the merits of his successors, 
it is owing to him, alike in peace and war, that England 
now holds her vast Ea~tem empire. He said no more 
than was his right when in Westminster Hjll, after en­
during the flood of calumny and insult poured on him by 
the oratofs of the Imlieachment, l1e at length burst out 
with indignant words, that should be known anc1 remem­
bered by all Engli~hmen : ~-

'The valour of others acquiled, ~ enlarged. and. gave 
!:>hcLp~ and consIstency to the dominion which you hold 
there; I preserved it; I sent for"1 its armies wifu art 
effectual but economical hand, through unknown and hostile 
region~, to the support of your other po~"essioll'i; to the 
retnevaJ of one 1 ftOm degl adation and dishonour; and 
of the other 2 from utter lo~s and &ub)ectioll. I maintained 
the wars which were of your formation, or that of others, 
not of mine. I won one membel J of the great Indian 
confederacy from it by an act of seasonable, fe&tituti09 ; 
with another 4 I maintained a ::.ecret intercourse, and con­
verted him into a friend; a third 5 I drew off by diversion 
ann negotiation, and employed him as the instrument of 
peace. 'Nhen you cried out for peace, and your crie~ were 
heard. by those who were the object of it, t' J esi<;ted this, 
and every other specie~ of counteraction, by rbing in my 
demands, and accomplished a peace, and I hope everlasting. 
with one grea'.. State,6 and I at least afforded the efficient 
means by which a peace, jf not so durable, more &easonablc 
at least, wa~ accompli~hed with another.7 t 

, I gave you all, and you have rewarded me with confisca­
tion, disgrace and a life of impeachment.' 8 

Such were his service5, and such was the return! It was 
"' . 

1 Bombay. 2 Madras. 3 The Nizam. hMoodajee Boosla. 
3 Maharajah lcindia. G The M~hrattas. 7 Tippoo Sahib. 

8.state Papers, Introd., p. xc. 
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with good reason that the Prince Regent, when, in 1814, 
he presented Warren Hastings to the Allied Sovereigns, 

.described him as 'the most ill-used man in the dominions 
of the Crown'. 

That ill-usage will continue so long as it is believed, and 
suffered to be written or said, that the founder of British 
India, its p~5erver in war and its lawgiver in peace, 
committed crimes, great or small, during his illustrious 
sway. That belief cartnot continuOJ it will not b~tolerated, 
when the truth is once popularly and fully known. The 
thfee Volumes of State Papers, so carefully collected and 

• so aQly ol{>mmenteti on by Mr. Forrest, demonstrate the 
moral integrity of Warren Hasting,," as clearly as they do 
~is i~tellectual greatJ.gess. It is on the incontrovertible 
evidence of those State Papers that the foregoing Vindica­
tion mainly rests. 

It may not be inappropriate to subjoin here a chapter 
on Dayleiford, bound up a'> its name must be with the 
memory of·Warren Hastings. That .secluded spot was the 
nursery of his race, the dream of his boyhood, the hope 
of his strenuous life. It became the :"hcltcr of his declining 
years, and is now the guardian of his du~t. 



CHAPTER IX 

DAYLESFORD 

DAYLESFORD is a parish of great antiquity in the county 
of Worcefter, but one QUtlying front the bulk of the shire, 
and forming an i~land in the surrounding borders or Oxford­
shire and Gloucestershire. Ib old Saxon church, built iad 
endowed by Ethelwald, King of the ~occians, aIr:l re~tored 
in its iJemicaily ancient form by \Varren Hastings, was an 
object of much interest to antiquartans, as one of th~ few· 
undoubted Saxon churches remaining in the country. It 
was, larllentably, destroyed some fifty ycar;, ;,ince, but the 
chancel arch of the original ;,tructure has been preserved 
in the vestry of the exceptionally beautiful modern church. 
The parish ~eems, for some reason now unknown, to have 
been favoured by ecclesiastical authority; for when, in 
King John's time, the whole of England wa~ p~!iced undH 
interdict by the Pope, four parishes were reserved in which 
burial could take place with the rites of the Church, and 
one of those four was Daylesford. 

As cady as the reign of Henry the Seconp the manor 
was bfld by one of the Hastings family,1 and N,lSh has 

1 Macaulay, in his Essay 01l Warren IfastmpI, treats the claIm 
made by Penyston Hastings, no mean antiquary, that the famil)t 
were descend"d from Hastings the sea-king, a5 fabulous. ' The 
undoubted splendour of the line of Hastings,' says he, 'needs no 
illustration from fable.' Uut is it certainly it fable? It is known 
that the famous sea-king, after his submission to Alfrtd and his 
conversion to Christianity, settled in Normandy, having obtained 
a grant of land~ from Duke }{ollo. The late Duchess of Cleve1t.nd, 
in her classic work on the Roll of Battle Abbey, points out that 
the Hastings who fought in~ the battle and was 'progenitor' of his 
race in England, appears in the Roll under the n<fme of his property 
in France. Was'l1:hl5 the land granted by Rollo? If so, the descent 
from the sea-kin!!" (th .. period that had elapsed was not much more 
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shown in his Worcestersltirc that it was for more than 
400 years in their continuous possession. The ancient manor 

Ihouse, 'of which no trace now remains, stood near the 
church. It is mentioned in the Biograpltical Illustrations 
of Worcestcrslzirt, by' Chambers, who !>ays the remains 
showed that it had been a grand structure; but this state­
ment must .e taken with some reservation. Daylesford 
was a small man!:>r, and though it be true that its owners 
were lor~s of other m\nors (John tHastings the !.:avalier is 
reputed to have sold four of them during the Civil War) 
yet, if we <ire to jud~e by their manor of Yelford-Hastings, 
situat.cd ~uth of fjxford, a f2.vouritc residence of John 
,H ast.ings, the!'e estates were of no llreat size. Y clford was 
made over to Speakef'Lenthall in composition for the fine 
levied on John Hastings by the Long Parliament, and the 
house has been preserved by the Lenthall family in the 
same state in whic!, it was handed over to their ancestor. 
It consists of a good-sized hall, manifestly the living-room, 
with the arms and monogram of J ohn Ha~tings lover the 
mantelpiece, and a withdrawing room (Jr parlour. This, of 
~t)Urse wi~1 offices and bedrooms, is all; and supposing 
that the manor house at Dayksford was double the size, 
it could hardly have presented many features of grandeur. 
Moreover, Chamber~' w.ork was publhhed in 11l20, more 
than a ce'lt4.lry after Daylcsford had been sold to a Mr. 

than a century and a half) may have been direct. Th~ word 
Hastings is Dalllsh, and it is believed that there 's still on the coast 
~f Denmark an ancient port, now sunk to a fishing-village, of that 
Ilame. As the town and c,tstle of Hastings were in existence at 
:he date of the Conquest, and gave name (among the Normans) 
:0 the ba(tle, it is qUIte conceivable tMt the descendant of the 
lea-king r~cognized his ancient patronymic and resumed it there­
lpon. 

I ,ohn Hastings retired to France at the close of the Civil War, 
ar>d lived for some time at the little bOlder town of St. Jean de Luz, 
close t~ Spain. When he returned aft~ the Restoration he brought 
with him some setds of the sainfoin grass, and Daylesford )\as the 
first parlsb in England in which that grass was 4grown. He thus 
conferred n" small boon cc English agriculture, 



( 

1 WARREN HASTINGS 

Knight, a merchant of Bristol, who treated the manor 
house much as the church was treated in a future century, 
in other words pulled it down totally. How any' remains ~ 
could have testified to its former character it is difficult to 
understand. In its stead tMr. Knight, who was evidently 
a man of his age, erected a square-built hQuse. 

The last Hastings who, for some eightr years, was 
connected with Daylesford, was the rector of the parish, 
Penyst6n. Hastings, a younger son ~resented to the living 
by his father before the estate was sold. The I name of 
Penyston was derived from an inter-marriage with '\:he 

"" Penystons of (:nrnwp.ll M;:Jnor, a p)r~uresquf' ·.>ld house 
situated in an adjace!;t parish. The rector soon found 
himself in a disagreeable position with reference to the new 
lord of the manor, who involved him in legal disputations, 
familiar enough to anyone versed in the country life of 
those days, over the payment of his tithes; and Penyston 
eventually, though retaining the benefice, moved to the 
village of Churchill, a few miles distant from Daylesford, 
and there rented a comfortable house. In that house 
Warren Hastings was born. ..'( 

There is no doubt that the history of the family at this 
tJme is involved in much obscurity. The cause of this 
obscurity may have been the dispersion of its members 
consequent on the sale of Dayles(ord; most of them went 
elsew~ere to seek their fortune ; sever'll , probably, to that 
perpetual refuge for all hunters after prosperity, the metro­
polis. But whatever the cause, the result was sure; when 
the name began again to attract attention a growth of 
legend and mistake had enveloped the original facts. The 
accounts of the mar;iage which produced so' "'elebrated 
a man as Warren Hastings, and of the married life (short 
as jt was) of his parents, are worthy of mediaeval roma91ce. 
Gleig stated and Macaul~y adopted and other writert" have 
reproduced the figment that Penyston HastJ~gs the younger, 
as we call hi'll to distinguish from his father, was only 
fifteen years old wh~n he married Hester Warren. vMacaulay 

~ 
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may be partly excused; he naturally conceived that Gleig, 
writing as was supposed in the interest of the Hastings 
jimilYr'llust have had correct information; and the later 
retailers of this nonsense may plead that they were misled 
by M!caulay. But fo~ Gleig there can be no excuse. Of 
course he was at Daylesford when preparing for his coming 
biography, aq,Q we must suppose heard something on the 
subject from ~me\lody; though it is difficult to conjecture 
what he heard and fr m whom h~ heard it. ItJs certain 
that Wa~en Hastings left no such statement in writing, 
forlbado he done so Gleig, who was great at quoting, would 
assuredly wave give.,. 'it. Mrs. Hastings, if she were living • ~t the time of Gleig's visit, which perhaps is doubtful,l 

• TnOst~ave been far acivanced in a e, was a foreigner by 
birth, not wholly perhaps proficient in the English tongue, 
and little likely to be informed as to the previous history 
of the family. Her son, Sir Charles Imhoff, then residing 
at Daylesford, knew nothing but what he heard from 

~ others, and could be no authority. Possibly Mrs. Hastings 
had misconceived something that had been said to her, 
o. Gleig Iflistook the meaning of some conversation. 2 Of 

• course no one imputes any untruth or bad faith. But the 
I\oint is this ; · however he may have picked it up, i w~s 

the clear duty of Gleig to investigate so strange a ta e. 
The village of Churchill"is within an easy drive, nay, within 
a good wal~ of Daylesford. Gleig knew that Warren 
Hastings was born at Churchill, for he states th~ fact 

• J1imself ; and if he had gone there and consulted the parish 
register, he would have found that Penyston Hastings the 
younger was a clergyman in holy orders of ' the Church 
of Englaad at the time that his s~n. was baptized, two 
years after the marriage; that is, when according to the 
leglilld Penyston could have been only seventeen years of 
age. As a fact he was in holy orders when he married, 
•• • 

1 She died in 18~. The biography was published in 1841. 
" t Or it ma~ have been given in figures and ~S" been mistaken 

for IS . • 
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and was then twenty-six years of age, having been born 
in 1704, probably in the old manor house.l The 'idle, 
worthless boy,' as Macaulay describes him, did-~not a 
any rate commit any remaiI<ab e imprudence in his 

, . 
marriage. . , 

But it is possibl~ that circumstances connected with that 
event may have led to some misconstructi at the time, 
and some traditional stories thereaft'el\ ester Warren 
was the t:la~ghter of ·. Mr. Thom1s Warren . who owned 
the small estate of Stubbs ' Hill, iIi the parish of'Twyning, 

, in Gloucestershire. He was, it' may be safely su'i'mi~ed, 
\. , 

of a respectable yeoman family in ~at neig~bo4fhood, 
and Hester seem to have had some money of he~ oWllf 
which, after her unti~e1y death, hd to unpleasantneSs.~ • 
In what way she and P~nyston became acquainted, where 
and when their confidences were exchanged, and how far 
their matrimonial intentions were communicated to either 
of their families, lies in complete obscurity, What is known .~ 

" is this: they were not married at Twyning, which would I 

have been the usual course, but in the church of ·St. Andrew 
in the city of Worcester, situated at a consider~~le dista~e 
from Twyning. The entry in the register is as follows; • 
(s. 7 'Y). July go. . The Rev. Mr. Penniston Hastings, df 
he parish of Dailsford in the county and diocese of 

< 

lOne account says 'at Cornwell Manor. 
i Tq,e social position of the Warrens may perhaps be gathered 

from the circumstance that another Thomas Warren, we may suppose 
the eldest brother of Hester, established a tea-garden at Stubbs Hi~ 
the management of which gave cause for complaint. It seems that 
the Earl of Coventry of that day wrote to Warren Hastings, who 
thereupon settled an anItUity of il00 on Thomas Wal(f.en on condi­
tion that he gave up o e tea-garden. On the other handfit has been 
stated that the Rev. John Warren, who was rector of Ripple in 
Worcestershire, and also Arch-ieacon of Worcester, was an<Uher 
brother of Hester. The present vicar of Twyning, the Rev. William 
Wordsworth Hoyland, has ~n gopd enough to ~lpply infcf.:mation 
as to the Warrens. The certified copy of the e try in th register 
at 8t. Andrews', has been in the possession of the Itastings famil~' 
since 1841. t ( 

.. 
t 
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WorCester, and Hester Warren, of Twinning in the county 
and diocese of Gloucester. Licence.' There is no hint of 
he presence of. a relative on either side. Hester wlls of 

full age, rather younger than her bridegroom; she could 
do as she chose ; but

8 
whether she acted with the consent 

of her father, who lived till 1745, or whether it was a run. 
away match ust be matter of conjecture. One thing is 
certain; the youag couple went to live wi~h the bride­
groom's father, Peny!.ton Hasting the elder', iit the hO\l5e 

which he rented at Churchill. . . 
4IWe·come now to the second .stage in · the ]eg~nd. If 

a boy, of .fteen is '-ooUsh enough. to marry, it is clear that 
he ii' likely to land himself in" poverty. So Gleig, having 
ommitted himself to Vie figment of the immature marriage, 

proceeds to improve the occasion by describing the utter · 
destitution and misery into which the rash couple fell. 
The readers of his pages might suppose that Hester gave 

, birth to her renowned son in a doghole or a rabbit-hutch. 
Happily the public care of the Lord Lieutenant of Gloucester­
shire, Lord Ducie, has caused a plate to be affixed to the 
h use, cotilmemotative of the birth. It is matter of eye­
sight that the house, though small, is respectable if l10t 
~ommodious ; but it is believed on good grounds t~ 
was something more. It seems pretty certain that, at the 
time of Warren Hastings birth, the adjacent house formed 

8 

with it one structure which ha.!l, since been dividC¥l into 
two dwellings. It is a solid building of stop.e, and must 
iave been ·a fit residence for a beneficed clergyman and 
his family. Gleig describes how the birth of Hester's son 
'put an end to her own miseries'. What those miseries 
were he ~~ves us to conjecture. Slle was living in a 
comfortable house, under the protection of her husband 
andafather~in-law, in circumstances that could not be called 
rich, b~t which c~rtainly were not~ing like abject poverty; 
probablr much

8
the same as those· of the ordinary clergy, 

tQeir nelghbours~ What is sad was the death of the young 
mother. arren was born on Decemier·6; and Hester 

o 
• .... 
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was buried on December 15, 1732-. Sad tbo for the 
child. The greatest man of his race never knew a mother's 
care.l 

The early years of Warren were passed in the village 
where he was born. The dame's s&ool where he learned 
to read (it was the accustomed place for everyone, gentle 

<> and simple, in those days) was in Churchill. What play­
mates he had must have been ChurchiU boys. It is not 
meant to.suggest that. he never !;aw Daylesford. The 
rector would be there on a Sunday to conduct tlfe service, 
and his grandson, it may be supposed, would often ere­
company him. No doubt there w~~d be oijJ.er Q visits, 
perhaps many. Thf' boy would know the place \Yell 
enough, and be acquai~ted with ita history and asfocPal 0 

tions. Certainly he read in the churchyard the quaint 
inscription 2 on the tomb of his lineal ancestor, Simon 

1 Penyston Hastings the younger seems to h~ve left Churchill 
soon after the death of his wife. It is believed that he went to 
the West Indies and died there. The only recorded observation 
made concerning him by his son seems to have been that he 
(Warrep) had nothing satisfactory to say about his . hther. Tge 
only other child of the marriage, born in 1831, was a daughter, who 
m! rrie.d a Mr. Woodman, and has descendants. 
""mth regard to Hester's money, mentioned above, a draft petitiod 

to t!:e Lord Chancellor ~vas prepared, apparently by authority of the 
WiiITensj alleging that she was entitled' to a sum of £500 out of 
a- copyhold estate at Cheltenham, and also to some rrl'oney from the 
will of i John Fletcher (one of her mother's family) and praying that 
her children should be protected in the matter. This draft is dated 
J733. It does not seem to have been proceeded with. 

• The inscription is as follows :-
Dost marvel, reader, that I here do lye 
Who might hart made this church my canol'Y? 
Why, 'tis no l'wonder. Should a strong-built s~ry 
Hinder my corps in mounting tg its glory? 
My parting soul forbade it; and withall C) 

Charged me to chuse this place of buriall, 
That this my tomb each passenger might tell 
They must expect the sound oC passing tgel1. 0 

Eighti~ two years compleat my days did make ., 
Before m'y mother earth me home did take. 

9 
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Hastings, and was shown the fine brass of a collateral 
relative in the chancel. His quick spirit would take it all 

ein, and at the sight of Mr. Knight's square-built house, 
may well have burned with regret for the heritage of his 
fathe~s. But the tal; he told in after years of his lying 

, one summer day by a stream descending to join the Isis, 
and dreami of the recovery of the estate, though true • 
in itself, cannot be taken as Macaulay tells it. It was not 
a stream flowing through the dolhain of his a8ces'tors, for 
there is ~o such stream in Daylesford. The incident must 
h!ve taken place at Churchill, and the stream must have 
been ~e Evenlode .. 'ust as fanciful is the pretty conjecture 

iveV by Macaulay at the conclus~on of his Essay that on 
• the very spot where ethe urn marking his coffin stands, 

'the little Warren, meanly clad and scantily fed, had 
played with the sons of ploughmen: If he did, there was 
small harm in it, but he must have played with them at 

, Churchill and not at Daylesford. ' The whole imagining 
• is built on the idea that he lived in the parish where his 

grandfather was rector, which he did not ; and is on a par 
with the ~d notion that his grandfather did not fiQd him 

• suitable clothes and did not give him enough to eat. lhe 
.boy did well as long as he stayed at Churchill, an n 
he left it for his education, his uncle Howard Hastings 
looke~ gellerously after the orphan.1 These dramatic 

And when lier right in all mankind she leave 
Heaven to the blest my purest earth receive. 

• 

tSir Charles Lawson erroneously states that Simon 'was buried in 
the church '. . 

1 Not only sci, but he provided for Warren in his will, proved 
in 1747, ii · which Howard is described -as of St. James' Parish,. 
Westminster. By this, in'lr alia, he lea 'es l20 a year to his father, 
Penyston Hastings; legacies to his aunt, Honour Hastings, daughter 
of fbe Hastings who sold Daylesford, and to his sister Elizabeth 
Rastinis; and then to his nephew Warren and his niece Ann, he 
leaves :£2,000 Scfutb Sea annuities, A~n to give up to her brother 
her inteI1:st in the.,lough Inn, Cheltenham, and the house adjoining. 
fte also left -'40 a year for the mainteJWlce.sd e«6uq.tion of Warren. 
In case W~eD died without issue, Aim J¥de "isiduary legatee; 
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touches, which Macaulay could paint only too facilely, 
infect his Essay throughout with wild inaccuracy, ' and 
whisper strong suspicion of his real merits as an histOf"ian. 0 

The dream of the recovery of Daylesford was destined 
to come true, though the dreamer ~cnt through as (\many 
tribulations as the patriarch of old before the augury was 
fulfilled. About three years after Warren H!J$tings finally 

• 
and failing er the two -dacJghters of the late Harry Gardiner of 
Bremore, Hants (doubtless of the family of the Gardiner w .0 married 
a daughter of Simon Hastings, and whose fine brass is to e se~n 
in Daylesford church), and Anne, Mary and Eleanor CreswiclCe, 
daughters of 'joseph Creswicke, of Stretham, Surrey, \\Ure sntided 
to the resin . in qual parts. H.e recommends his nephew, Warren 
Hastings, to th~ care of hi friend, the H~m. Henry Vane, ar!t 'Ri~ • 
niece Ann to that of Lady Grace. He appoints the Hon. Henry 
Vane, Henry Vane junior, Fairmedow Penyston of Cornwell, and 
Joseph Creswicke, his executors. ' • 

This will of (ioward demolishes more than one mistaken statement. 
It' shows that the condition of himself and his near relatives was not 
one of poverty, as represented by Gleig and Macaulay. It shows , 
that Warren was not shipped off to India (as he was shortly lifter -
the will was proved) because he could not be maintained in England; 
but, prq,bably, because Mr, Vane thought that the offer (A writershjp 

' in th~ East India Company's service, obtained for him by Mr. • 
Cr~.;wicke, was too good to be refused; an opinion which at any rate 
wc~abundantly justified by future events. The provisions of the­
will also suggest pretty clearly that Howard had no near male relative 
beside's Warren. This was indeed the fuct. His brother Penyston 
had vanished; and it is to be feared that the interest i the Chelten­
ham ho~ses vanished with him. His brother Samuel, a Midshipman 
in the Royal Navy,of H.M.S. DuYsley, had died in 1739 without issue, 
as is shown by letters of administration to his effects, granted t 
Howard. And his uncle, another Samuel, eldest son of the seller 
of Daylesford, died intestate and unmarried, in Jamaica, in 1718, 
as is proved by letters r;)f administration granted to his brother, 
Howard's father, Peny~on Hastings, RectQr of Daylesfor . 

It may be observed that these last-menti ned letters of administra­
tion absolutely disprove the statement made by Sir Charles La son 
that this Samuel was the father of a William Hastings from whom 
Sir Charles deduces a gene:ll.ogy. There was a William lfistings, 
of Milton-under-Wychwood, a hamlet of Shipton but this .WiIliam, 
as his will proves, died without issue, and his pro~rty at Miltoo 
passed to his wrdo&.. 

• c 



DAYLESFORD 
.. 

returned from India, the manor and estate were bought for 
a sum under £1'J,000 from the grandson of the Mr. Knight 

• who- had built the square house, and thus returned for 
a time to the Hastin~s faqlily. Of course the square house 
was ~peedily pulled down, and a mansion of a very different 
character arose in its stead. Warren Hastings left it on 
record tha~ he spent on the property, counting in the· 
purchase moneYf no less than £60,000. This of course 
included the building of the hot!se. It was I sum quite 
disprop~rtionate alike to the value of the estate and to 
t!l.e pecuniary resourc.es of the purcha~r. We have his 
own .autkority · fOt' ' he statement that he never, at any 

~ per~d of his Hfe, .was ·worth 'more than £100,000; y'et he 
• • ac knowledges that he spent qlor: than hc~.lf this amount 

in providing himself with a small manor, a mansion, park 
and grounds. As a fa:ct, something like four-fifths of his 
fortune went in the ~osts of his defence during the Im-

, peachment 1; but the bounty of the East India Company, 
e a b ounty· which assuredly had been fairly earned, relieved 

him from those embarrassments.. It was well that he 
possessed' EO liberal a friend, for it is evident that ~e him-

• self,. accustomed to Oriental. magnificence, and genet-ously . \ .. 
. lavish by nature, had little knowledge of the va~:Je of 

money,; . while his wife, jf no injustice has been done 
her by cOTmon report, had perhaps even less. However, 
it is well to know that the great Governor-Gen~al,_the 

• 

1 The impecuniosity under which he laboured soon after- his 
• e acquittal may be measured by his reply to a friend who had urged 

him to go into the country for rest and quiet. He wrote back that 
he agreed with the advice but was sO' pressed for money that he feared 
he literall.tould not pay the expense of I'osting down to Daylesford. 
The East India Compan~ proposed to grant~im a pension of £5,000 
a year, but this :.vas opposed by Dundas, then head of the Board of 
C~trol, who was ill affected to Hastings. The proposal was then modi­
fied te a perision of £4,000 to commence from his resignation of the 
office ~f Governer-General. To this I1undas assented. As ten years 

, had el~sed sin,- his resignation, he obtained £40,000 at once, and 
~he Compa~ made him a loan of £50,000 without interest. This 
loan was iJ9 some part repaid, but the bulk of ~ wls r~mitted. 

03 • 
• • • e • 



WARREN HASTINGS , 
statesman who preserved British India for his country, was 
able to live and die in honour on his ancestral domain; 
and it is only just to his memory to say that on the final, 
inevitable alienation and sale, Daylesford realized on the 
whole nearly what he had paid for and expended on it~ 

But it is not to be supposed that the place as it now 
exists is altogether the Daylesford of Wa n Hastings, 
Visitors come and see, and imagine that his work lies 
before therf'l. But muclf is changed, and that much in. 
eludes what was most characteristically his. · the fine 
fa<;ade of the house is virtually gone; the elevation, whiCh 
commanded the admiration of young I1er.isdn in ms Letters, 
has been dwarfeci to abput half its original height bre the ., 
lofty terrace erected in its front. Thct has also obliterate-d ('\ 
the portico with its two grand pillars, and closed up the 
noble staircase which ascended from the outer hall. The 
present entrance, at the back of the house, is quite recent 
and comparatively poor. The terrilce itself was erecteQ 
in excellent taste, it displays a charming garden, and com­
mands a fine view~ There is no intention to criticize 
beyond saying that it had nothing to do wieh Warr 
Ha~ttngs, or with the original design of the mansion. It 
is an l eyewitness who speaks, and he, sixty-six years . 
since, approached Daylesford House by the· drive which 
s vept round where the terrace now stands, entered by • the. poital which the terrace now wholly obscures, and 
ascended to the reception rooms above by the staircase 
now made impossible. 

In the days of Warren Hastings there were, on the first 
floor of the house, three reception rooms en suite, each 
rendered interesting ot; the intellectual or the c~rious by 
certain memorable things. The la~ room in the centre, 
commanding a view of the park and pleasure growcls, 
with the tower of Stow Gchurch in the distance, w\S the 
library. That on its· right was the drawing-room, a.,nd the . 
room on the left was the saloon. . The drawing.room w~ 
occupied with: tlfe 'amous ivory furniture, carv by the 
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cunning hands of Indian artists, marvellous in the luxuriance 
and delicacy of its work, and upholstered in Eastern fabrics 
of surpassing tints. When this furniture was sold by public 
auction "before the estate changed hands no single chair • • fetched less than ninety pounds, and the price of most of 
them ran towards a hundred. Some of them were pur­
chased for I ian princes, and thus returned to their native .. 
land. Some quarter of a century ago a sofa of the set, with 
a small table, and another triflit!g piece, ca~ into the • market at Christie's, and were sold for fifteen hundred 
p~unds in a single lot. The upholstering of the sofa still 
in a wea meaS'ur retained its exquisite colouring. This 
fum' ure gave its peculiar Orien I stamp to Daylesford 
Ffouse, and was in unison with the history and the taste of 
its owner. 

The library, a noble room more than forty feet in length, 
hung with Persian chain armour, set with silver, on its walls, 

• with Zoffany's famous picture of the cock-fight at Lucknow, 
containing portraits of distinguished Anglo-Indians, over the 
mantelpiece, and a wealth of valuable books on its shelves, 
W9S the (~urite and fitting apartment of a statesman who 
all his life had heen a lover of literature, and had cotr ed 
its charm~ even in the most arduous hours of his public 
rule. It was here he sat and read, here he conversed' 
with his friends; and we shall presently give an example 
of the .sOl t of conversation that fell from his lips' h~e, 
to his intellectual mind, was the room of the house, and 

I i-mong relics of Eastern days, with paintings and authors, 
he passed the tranquil years of declining life. That 
room, long since turned into a drawing-room by another-• • taste, mus ever remaip, with those ver d in the history of a 

their country, dedicatecPto the immortal memory of Warren 
H~ings. . , 

The saloon,. to which perhap~ a still deeper interest 
",ttached, a room of the same size as the drawing-room, 
ha.d ov;r the ~antelpiece the ' portrait, we may call it 
famous, b ~jr Thomas Lawrence. Til; eTt&".~aving there-

• 



• 

, 

• 
too WARREN HASTINGS • 
from is probably more generally considered to' reproduce 
the lineaments of the Governor-General than any other. 
But the idea is erroneous. Go to Lawrence's portraits for o 
the picturesque, the artistic, the pleasing; but go elsewhere • if you want a likeness. It wa always felt by those who 

. knew, that the face which looked down from the saloon wall, 
fot all its dignity and repose, for all the imQPsing accom­
paniments of draping and shadow, was not 'the countet'feit 
presentmerft of the man'.· It was from the brush of Thomas 
Lawrence, and that was enough to give it perpetual fame, 
but it was not the Hastings who had faced a tntrtin~s 
Council, had shown himself a match ffJr (Hyde Aij, and 
had left the lasting imp~ss of his intel\tct on the poytical 
relations of Hindustan. A more spea4ring likeness, taken no· J 

doubt with the advantage of a much earlier age, is that by 
Sir Joshua Reynolds; and it may be that the miniatu,re which 
Mrs. Hastings always kept in her boudoir, and which appears 
as the frontispiece to Gleig's biography,1 is t he most pleas­
ing: But if an expression of personal opinion be permitted, 
the unpretending picture by George Stubbs; painted and 
engra\led by him in 1795, bears more than any- other ~ 
stvnP of a faithful realization of the man. The ye quick • 
and observant, the mouth fixed in resolution , the face worn. 
'but more through toil than age,' yet still flexible , and the 
whole air of quiet power and purpose, speak the character • of .W~cren Hastings. But this is a diversion. The saloon 
contained several other paintings of considerable interest 
and merit; notably one hanging on the wall opposite t~ 
the entrance from the library, which represented an Indian 
hill fortress capt red by the brilliant exploit of his favourite 
officer, Major Topoo~. .. • • • 

Under this picture took place me closing scene ,of an 
illustrious life. During his last illness, borne with sitnal 
fortitude, he was carried.down to the saloon, wher~a bed 
had been prepared for him, probably for ~he pu~pose of 
more convenient n Irsing. The head of the bed was placQd 

• • 
. 1 ~d is~lso the frontispiece to this book. 
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against the' south wall of the room; and it was there that, 
honoured by the Crown, enrolled a(l)ong its graduates by 

e the first of Universities, and acclaimed by the House which 
had once impeached him,l the true founder of the British 
Indi:h polity gave up· his soul to God. 

In the autumn of 1814 a conversation took place at 
Daylesford Which is given· here,pn personal authority, 
be<!ause it seem~ illustrative of the subject with which 
we have been dealing. A young-naval lieutedhnt passed 
through thipping Norton, when posting down from Ports­
ntbutl! into Worcestershire. 'The Undaunted frigate, of ' 
which.he .,,;'s fitst Me~tenant, had lately taken Napoleon to 
Elb\ . and had air~ved at Spithe~ to be paid off on the 

• ·g~eral peace. Lieut6llant Hastings bethought himself that 
he was within a few miles of the most illustrious personage 
of his race, and he turned out of his way to pay his respects 
at Daylesford House. He was cordially received by Warren 

1 
Hastings, whom he. described as (a little old mali, with 
a black velvet cap on his head, sitting by the fire in his 
library '. A good deal of conversation ensued. Warren 

t ~\lired t.-ith interest where the young lieut~naat had 
• 'seryed ; -and he, after narrating his experiences ' i~ ~he 

Meciiterranean, not forgetting we may be sure his acquain. , 
tance with the Emperor, went on to say that he had also. 
cruised in 'tpe Indian Ocean, and had been for some time 
surveying in the Persian Gulf. At the mention .of ~t:.iea 
Warren Hastings became voluble. ' Ah I'. he said, ' that 

.... s -the most important position in Asia, one of the most 
• important _in the world. ' And then,' afte~ a short pause, 

• 
1 When t¥ rene~al of the East Indi~ Company's charter was ' 

Wlder dis~ssion in 1 ,the House of GIflmmons directed that 
Warrep Hastings should tend . at their Bar as a witness. Qn his 
doiqg so, the whole House rose, uncovelled, anvemained standing 
till he was seated. ,Tlle same compliment wa' paid to him when 
he withllrew; _ -
.. Soon flter this he was sworn of the Privy Council by order of 
tlJe' Prince Rege~t, 'who received him in~riVate audience. In 
1814 the ljpfversity of Oxford bestowed on I'll tac ~onorary degree 
ofD.C.L. • - ' , . 

• • • e • 
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and raising himself in his chair, C If I were the War Minister 
of the Czar I should not spend time and effort in striving to 
get to Constantinbple by way of Europe; I should endeavou 
to occupy Persia, and to establish m~self at the head of the 
Persian G1jr. I should then be in a( fine position; ( 'could 
strike at India with tbe one hand and at Asia Minor with 

.. $'he other; I should tak~ Constantinople in th~rear.' These 
words were littered with remarkable anhnation and cIgar­
ness, and ~ith a conviction which showed that the great 
diplomatist and ruler had mastered the facts ancf thought 
out the subject. No more striking example, perhaps, coUid 
be given of the 'width of view and gra.sp of p. ( iqrowhich 
distinguished the man. in his old ag and retire me t he 
could still survey the field of international politi~s and 
calculate the struggles for empire. The prescience of his 
statesmanship has been vindicated by the vigilance with 
which our Foreign Office has long watched and still watches 
over British interests in the mouth of the Persian Gulf. 1 

o · 

The history of the ancient church, which stood near cne 
of the entrances to the park, has been already alluded to. 
But it (may be well to record here the personaL Ort-terest" 1:.: 
un efnitting care, arid we may add the excellent aste ex- 0 

hibiteod by Warren Hastings in his preservation of .antiquity. 
The usual idea of clerical restorers seems to be the destruc­
tion of the old, and the glorification of the new. Ancient 
th' '! are swept away in order to show how much better 
the things of the present can be made. The purpose of 
Warren Hastings was the reverse. His , reverence for c1c:t 
things, the sanctity which in his eyes attached to a building 

. 0 
I The Lieutenant Has mgs mentioned abcp,'(;, ran a istinguished 

career in the Royal N avy, When in 9: .nmand of th Ekeeliellt 
. at Portsmouth h, .. introduced into tbe :Navy the scientific ~ystem 

of gunnery wh1ch ,{,as now been brought to such perfection. () He 
was" subsequently fo.' ten years a member of the Board of Ordnance. 
It was as Admiral Sir Thon&s Hastings, Knight t::ommander of the 
Bath, that in May, 1869, he narrated the aero ot given <above of 
his visit to Dallqfon:\ This took place on the tertac~of Barbourfie 
House, near to W~rce .er t • , . 

l <. 
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UR[I; IN DAYLESFORD CHURCHYAHD 

Marking the spot where the remains of W arren Hastings lie. 
Taken ~' Miss H. H. Holdich, Morristo~\'n , J ersey, U.S.A . 
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. of a tbousattJ·years, fOrbade the I(teratioa of a lingle (~atu~; 
or the intrusipn of one nove~ the church had become so 

-.....inous by lap;e of tiple that entire renovation ~~ n~arr, 
• but it was resolved tat it should be J?lovftion and not 

'. dest~ion. Eve~one was number~ ~t was taken 
out, and was, wherever practicable, restored to • original 
position; jf not practicable, one siQililar was iose its 
p~!e~ ~old foundations were retained; the 
portionsan~ lilltit~ :Were scrupulot.!ily observed. 

~
was done..»'it~ .l.~.carefpl p!ety that if Etbe.lwald, ing of 
tt. ~~ian~cou have returned to earth, he would have 
ound ~ne of his ?evotion and ~unificence unimpaired. 

arren H~stings d~ve down from his house daily in a pony 
• ~Ige'to o'bserv~ the work in proflress. When it W~r/i1II"-.1 

he·placed a ta.fet~~Jhe church in~r~tollows:-
• Tliis church derrves its foundation from a grant of 

Ethelwald, King of the Mercians, who reignei:l between the 
years of our Lord 716 and 757. Sanc~ d by the prayers, 

, rlt~, and oblations of its successive parochial members 
I throttgh a period exceeding 1000 years, it was rebuilt with 

, such of the same material as constituted its primitive. struc-
• ture, and .had escaped the mouldering hand of time, 'th 

! iden!ity unchanged: and the uniformity of its Saxon 
architec.ture, which had suffered some encroacnment upon 
it from the license of incidental reparations, was restored in 
the year of l>ur Lord i8I6. _ . -.,. -

, " For a thousand years in Thy sight are but as yesterday, 
~ it i~ past, and a watch in the night:" Pst xc. 4: 
~liis waS tbe,last work of Warren Hastings. It __ . __ _ 

• ~rcely cr~ble that it was swept away. In tha , _ 
as in so It others, the Daylelt'orcf'of t ay is not the 
., 11 a of .h~o!y. , .. 

• .' ". 
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against the Governor-General, who could have had, therefore, 
no motive or interest in the matter. 

The solemn declaration made by Warren Hastings on, 
oath before the Supreme Court, that he had never interfered 
in any way with the trial, or had anything to do with the 
prosecution, was absolutely true. 

3. Treatment of the Nawab of Bengal,. and of the 
Emperor of Delhi. These matters embodied the charges 
made by Macaulay when "peaking ~f the need of bettering 
the finances of Bengal, and there can be no doubt that he 
reckoned them among what he termed the great crimes of 
\ IT H' , .... I- b . h '~arren U,::;tm~" dUfil1l11stratlvn. t IS e;;,t t,t) gl'1e t e 
accusation in Macaulay's own wOlds: 'A mind so fer~i1e as 
his, and so little restrained by ~,mscientious scruples,t 
speedily discovered several modes of relieving the financial 
embarra'ismentc, of the Government. The allowance of the' 
Nabob of Bengal \~as reduced at a ,>troke f10lD three hundred 
and twenty thousand a year to half that !->um. The Com­
pany had bound itself to pay ncar three hundted thousand 
pounds a year to the great Mogul, a') t mark of homage 
for the provinces which he had entrusted to the;r care; and 
they had ceded to him the districts of Corah and Allahabad. 
On the plea that the Mogul wa" not really independent, but 
merely a tool in the hand<., of others, Hdstings determined 
to retract the;;,e concessions. He accordingly declared that 
the Engli"h would p:1)' no more tribute, and sent troops to 
occupy Corah and Allahabad. The "ituation of these 
places was :;uch that there would be little advantage anr;1 
great expenc;e in retaining them. H astillg'>, who wanted 
money and n)t territolY, determined to sell them. A pur­
chaser was not wanting .... Sujah Dowlah, tJee Nabob 
Vizier, was on excelJent terms with the English. He had 
a large treaSUf(~. Allahabad and Corah were so sitlfuted 
that they might be of use to him and could be of /lone to 
the Company. The buyer and seller ~;on came to an 

1 The reader ("ill observe this imputation of motive. unsupported 
by proof, and unwarr~ntable. 


